

Patient Experience in California Ambulatory Care

Prepared for California HealthCare Foundation

by

Jill Steinbruegge, M.D., Ph.D. Steinbruegge Consulting

Giovanna Giuliani, M.B.A., M.P.H. California Quality Collaborative, Pacific Business Group on Health

About the Authors

Jill Steinbruegge, M.D., Ph.D., is president of Steinbruegge Consulting, a consulting practice focused on developing people and teams to solve complex problems and improve patient care. Giovanna Giuliani, M.B.A., M.P.H., is a senior manager at the California Quality Collaborative (CQC), a multi-stakeholder improvement organization dedicated to advancing the quality and efficiency of the outpatient commercial delivery system in California.

About the Foundation

The **California HealthCare Foundation** works as a catalyst to fulfill the promise of better health care for all Californians. We support ideas and innovations that improve quality, increase efficiency, and lower the costs of care. For more information, visit us online at www.chcf.org.

Contents

Ι.	Introduction and Background			
	What Is the Patient Experience?			
	Measuring the Patient Experience			
	Heightened Market Focus			
	California vs. National Performance			
II.	Medical Groups and IPAs			
	Patient-Centered Focus			
	Transparent Information			
	Staff and Provider Engagement and Training			
	Reward and Recognition			
	Accountability			
	Consultants			
	Leader Commitment			
Ш.	Safety-Net Organizations			
	Patient-Centered Focus			
	Transparent Information			
	Staff and Provider Engagement and Training			
	Reward and Recognition			
	Accountability			
	Consultants			
	Leader Commitment			
IV.	Conclusion			

I. Introduction and Background

DURING THE PAST DECADE, SIGNIFICANT activity and energy have been focused on improving the patient experience in California. Public reporting of patient experience data and pay-for-performance incentives commenced, and the Patient Assessment Survey (PAS) instrument used by most medical groups and independent practice associations (IPAs) in the state has shown consistent year-over-year increases. Even though available comparisons show that Californians' ratings of the ambulatory care experience lag behind ratings in other states, there are several physician organizations in the state that have consistently ranked above their peers in each year of public reporting.

In light of these activities and improvements, this paper describes the present landscape of ambulatory patient experience in California. It is based on a literature review and a series of in-depth interviews with medical groups and IPAs that have sustained high performance on PAS, as well as with ambulatory care organizations serving large safety-net patient populations. The paper provides background on the definition, importance, and measurement of the patient experience, and synthesizes common strategies and areas of focus among the interviewees. It also describes the unique approaches and challenges of safety-net organizations in improving the patient experience. Among the topics discussed in detail:

- Patient-centeredness as an organizational focus;
- Leadership commitment to providing excellent patient experience;

- Robust measurement of the patient experience, transparency and clarity in reporting and communicating results, and using data for improvement;
- Engagement of staff and providers in the promotion, design, and implementation of patient experience improvement projects;
- Effective reward, recognition, and accountability systems to acknowledge individuals who excel and to provide feedback and support to individuals who need help; and
- Use of strategies to improve access to care and to support providers and staff in adopting effective patient communication techniques.

What Is the Patient Experience?

The patient experience is the sum of a patient's interactions when accessing the health care system; it is also the patient's perceptions of those interactions.

A distinction can be made between "patient experience" and "patient satisfaction," which focuses more narrowly on how patients rate their experience. Patient experience surveys typically assess what patients actually did or did not experience in their interactions, while patient satisfaction surveys assess only patients' ratings of satisfaction with their care. For example, a patient satisfaction survey might ask how well the physician listened, on a scale from highly satisfying to not satisfying at all. A patient experience survey, on the other hand, might ask the patient how frequently the physician listened during visits made in the previous 12 months. In this paper, patient experience is used broadly to encompass patient satisfaction. Importantly, the patient experience reflects the dimensions of care that are most important to patients.^{1,2} These include:

- Interpersonal interactions and communications. The more responsive, informed, helpful, and respectful the interactions a patient and family have with clinicians and staff, the better the patient experience.
- Access to care. The smaller the wait, delay, or effort involved in obtaining what the patient or family perceives is needed, the better the patient experience.
- Care coordination. Care processes should enable providers and care settings to work together to provide seamless care. Examples include getting test results, obtaining access to a specialist, and coordination between the primary care physician and other providers. Care that is perceived as quick, easy, or smooth provides a better patient experience than care that is perceived as confusing or delayed.

Analysis of PAS data shows that questions related to physicians are most highly correlated with overall rating of care, followed by questions related to coordination of care, office staff interactions, and access.³

The concept of patient-centered care is closely related to patient experience. The Institute of Medicine outlines several dimensions of patientcentered care, including: respect for patients' values, preferences, and needs; coordination of care; physical comfort and emotional support; involvement of family and friends; and information, communication, and education. The goal is to "customize care to the specific needs and circumstances of each individual," making care respond to the person, not the person to the care.⁴ Research has shown that the patient experience has a direct, positive relationship with health care quality. Patients who rate their experience highly show greater adherence to treatment recommendations and have better health outcomes.^{5–11} Patient experience also affects financial outcomes. High ratings improve patient loyalty, increase physician satisfaction and retention, and reduce malpractice risk.^{12–23}

Measuring the Patient Experience

Measuring patient experience is useful because it identifies problems that can adversely affect quality and cost of care, such as gaps in coordination of care or delays in returning test results.

Methods for surveying patient experience include mail, phone, and point-of-care approaches. Surveys commonly used in California to assess ambulatory care include:

- The Patient Assessment Survey (PAS) is a standardized survey that measures and publicly reports patient experience results at the physician group level (groups may choose to increase their sample size to measure and report internally at the individual clinician level). It is administered through the California Cooperative Healthcare Reporting Initiative and results are publicly reported on the Office of the Patient Advocate Web site (www.opa.ca.gov). PAS also serves as the measurement tool to determine pay-forperformance payments for the patient experience domain;
- The Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) Clinician & Group Survey is a nationally validated survey similar to PAS; and²⁴
- A variety of proprietary surveys offered by vendors such as the American Medical Group

Association, Avatar, MTC, Press Ganey, and SullivanLuallin.

Heightened Market Focus

Over the past few years, several initiatives and changes in California and nationally have focused attention on the patient experience.

In 1999, the National Committee for Quality Assurance began using the CAHPS Health Plan Survey to assess the health plan member experience of care, as part of the HEDIS criteria used for public reporting and accreditation. Although the survey measures the member (rather than patient) experience and reports at the health plan level, the survey tool includes questions related to access to care, provider ratings, and how well doctors communicate. As a result, health plans became interested in providing incentives and support to physician organizations in their networks to improve their ratings.

In 2002, California became one of the first states to publicly report patient experience results at the physician group level. This was initiated under the auspices of the California Cooperative Healthcare Reporting Initiative, a statewide collaborative of health plans, provider organizations, and purchasers.

Growing interest in developing a common set of measures for evaluating physician group performance and in using incentive payments based on those measures led to the launch of the Integrated Healthcare Association's Pay for Performance initiative. Through this initiative, physician groups in California receive incentive payments based on their performance in five domains, one of which is the patient experience as measured by PAS. The first payout year was 2004. In 2009, health plans paid out \$52 million to 229 physician organizations based on performance in all five domains. Of that total, approximately \$15.4 million was paid out for performance in patient experience measures.

The California Quality Collaborative, established by health plans and large employers groups to support improvement in organizations caring for commercially insured populations, has developed expertise in the steps and approaches that lead to improvement (see sidebar on page 5).

Finally, the medical home concept has contributed to the growing interest in patientcenteredness and patient experience. The patientcentered medical home, formalized in 2007 by several major primary care organizations, is defined as "an approach to providing comprehensive primary care... that facilitates partnerships between individual patients and their personal providers, and when appropriate, the patient's family."25 Of the seven patient-centered medical home principles, three directly address the patient experience: whole-person orientation, care coordination, and enhanced access. The collection and reporting of patient experience data is included in the standards and guidelines set forth by the National Committee for Quality Assurance for a patient-centered medical home.²⁶

California vs. National Performance

The limited available data show that Californians' ratings of the patient experience lag behind those of other states.²⁷ In an analysis conducted for the Pacific Business Group on Health (PBGH) comparing California patients' ratings on several CAHPS Clinician & Group Survey questions (getting appointments and health care when needed, how well doctors communicate, office staff courtesy and helpfulness, and overall ratings of doctors), California lags behind a national sample and, on nearly all questions, samples from two other states.²⁸

Although imperfect, it is also possible to use questions related to patient care on the CAHPS Health Plan Survey to compare care experience ratings across states. Data from 2009 show that Californians rate their care experience lower than do

Improving the Patient Experience: Lessons from the California Quality Collaborative

The elements of the patient experience most highly correlated with the overall rating of care are clinicianpatient communication, access, and coordination of care. Fifteen groups participating in the California Quality Collaborative focused on these areas in yearlong intensive efforts that brought organizations together with expert faculty. Through this process, the collaborative identified key changes for practice sites and for organizations to improve the patient experience:

For practices and physicians:

- Negotiate the agenda with the patient at the start of each visit;
- Make a personal connection and demonstrate empathy through eye contact and empathic statements;
- Provide closure by summarizing next steps and an action plan;
- Notify patients of all test results, whether positive or negative;
- Review the patient chart prior to the visit;
- Handle more than one medical problem during the visit and extend return intervals when appropriate;
- Open same-day appointment slots; and
- Implement office "huddles" to monitor and manage patient flow on a daily basis.

For organizations to support practice sites:

- Provide ongoing feedback from patients to the sites through a patient experience survey and provide data at the physician level, at least quarterly;
- Provide training to physicians and staff to improve communication with patients;
- Provide a systematic approach to reporting lab results to patients and physicians; and
- Provide advanced access training to physician practices.

patients in most other states, supporting the finding of the PBGH analysis. California scored between the 10th and 25th national percentiles on CAHPS composite ratings of access (getting needed care and getting care quickly) and physician relationship (how well doctors communicate and ratings of personal doctors). Ratings for specialists (specialists seen most often) and overall health care were slightly better—between the 25th and 50th percentiles.²⁹

Within California, there is significant variation across physician groups. Based on 2009 PAS data, there is a 5- to 10-point range on key composite scores, suggesting that the highest-performing groups in California may be more competitive nationally.

Importantly, the patient experience in California has been steadily improving:

- CAHPS Health Plan Survey ratings on questions related to care increased relative to other states from 2007, when California was often below the 10th percentile, to 2009—although all scores remain below the 50th percentile nationally.³⁰
- Research evaluating the impact of pay for performance, which was implemented in California in 2004, concluded: "In the context of statewide measurement, reporting, and performance-based financial incentives, patient care experiences significantly improved."³¹ Physician-patient communication, care coordination, and office staff interaction all improved during the study period, from 2003 to 2006.
- The annual statewide PAS average ratings of all elements of the patient experience consistently increased from 2006 to 2010. These included ratings of access to care, physician-patient interactions, coordination of care, office staff, and overall rating of care.

II. Medical Groups and IPAs

TO IDENTIFY PRACTICES AND PROCESSES associated with high patient experience ratings, medical groups and IPAs with sustained high ratings were identified using PAS data from 2006 to 2009. The medical groups with sustained high performance had ratings above the 90th percentile on the "overall rating of care" question for at least three of the four years. A lower threshold was used to identify the IPAs, which had ratings above the 79th percentile on the same overall care question for all four years. The organizations represent a cross-section of size and geography (Table 1).³² Structured interviews were conducted with leaders of these groups to obtain information about leadership practices, organizational processes, and initiatives to improve the patient experience.

Findings from these interviews are described below, along with their implications for physician

groups and IPAs that want to improve their patient experience ratings. The findings are grouped into several themes that emerged from the interviews.

Patient-Centered Focus

All the medical group and IPA leaders interviewed spoke of a strong leadership commitment to patient-centered care. Many described this as a core value of the group. The patient-centered focus was articulated as "being the place to get care," "a place where patients come first," and a place where patients receive "a uniform experience wherever they go." Some interviewees spoke of a link between the patient experience and quality care ("patient satisfaction affects clinical quality" and "our goal is to provide patients with the highest quality care").

Most of the groups could identify a specific point when they started to improve the patient experience.

		NUMBER OF PHYSICIANS	
ТҮРЕ	LOCATION	PRIMARY CARE	SPECIALISTS
IPA	San Francisco	234	774
IPA	Marin and Sonoma counties	100	226
Medical group	Alameda, San Mateo, Santa Clara, and Santa Cruz counties	409	537
Medical group	San Diego	118	340
Medical group	San Diego	110	5
Medical group	San Diego	125	255
Medical group	Davis, Woodland, Dixon, and Winters in Yolo County	42	28
IPA	Santa Paula, Fillmore, and Ventura in Ventura County	24	286
	TYPE IPA IPA Medical group Medical group Medical group Medical group Medical group IPA Medical group IPA IPA Medical group IPA IPA	IPASan FranciscoIPAMarin and Sonoma countiesMedical groupAlameda, San Mateo, Santa Clara, and Santa Cruz countiesMedical groupSan DiegoMedical groupSan DiegoMedical groupSan DiegoMedical groupDavis, Woodland, Dixon, and Winters in Yolo CountyIPASanta Paula, Fillmore, and Ventura	TYPELOCATIONPRIMARY CAREIPASan Francisco234IPAMarin and Sonoma counties100Medical groupAlameda, San Mateo, Santa Clara, and Santa Cruz counties409Medical groupSan Diego118Medical groupSan Diego110Medical groupSan Diego125Medical groupDavis, Woodland, Dixon, and Winters in Yolo County42IPASanta Paula, Fillmore, and Ventura24

Table 1. Medical Groups and IPAs Interviewed

The change was influenced by a number of factors, including: a decision by leadership; a merger with another group or larger system; public reporting; and pay-for-performance initiatives. Many of the leaders interviewed described a long-standing culture of using patient feedback to improve the patient experience.

Transparent Information

All of the leaders said their organizations measure the patient experience, communicate the results widely, and use the information to improve their performance.

Measurement and reporting. The medical group leaders survey patients using continuous sampling and report results at least monthly at both the site and department levels. All measure the patient experience at the individual provider level and most report these results quarterly, with a few reporting less frequently. All but one medical group report individual provider results in a blinded fashion.

Many of the leaders said they selected a survey tool based on its ability to provide:

- Reporting at site, department, and individual provider levels;
- Timely feedback, particularly the ability to access results on a real-time basis with an online reporting tool so managers can identify problems early or follow the impact of an improvement intervention; and
- Analysis of key areas to improve.

All of the medical groups interviewed use the Press Ganey survey. Leaders spontaneously described this survey's ability to report results frequently and to provide analysis and specific suggestions for improvement. Two of the IPAs survey patients less frequently than do the medical groups, relying on the annual PAS or a combination of PAS and an internal survey. The third IPA, affiliated with a health system that uses Press Ganey to measure the patient experience, surveys and reports results quarterly.

Improvement. All of the medical groups and IPAs that were interviewed use survey results to guide improvement of the patient experience. One medical group initially directed its efforts toward improving employee satisfaction as the foundation for improving the patient experience (see "A Great Place to Work").

In the IPAs, results are typically reported first to the association's quality committee (or similar body), which identifies areas needing improvement and develops a strategy for addressing problems. For example, one IPA tracked patient dissatisfaction with coordination of care between the hospital and primary care providers. They responded to the

A Great Place to Work

Responding to low employee satisfaction scores, Scripps Health leadership decided to become a "Great Place to Work" and to improve the patient experience from that foundation. Focusing on issues identified in the employee satisfaction surveys, Scripps built consistent processes and infrastructure to support managers.

To engage employees, managers round daily and become involved in improvement activities, many of which focus on the patient experience. In one example of the employee engagement that resulted, front-line telephone staff developed their own behavioral standards to provide an exceptional patient experience and are audited on these behaviors. In another example, outstanding employees are trained in behavioral interviewing and conduct peer interviews of job candidates. feedback by reducing the number of hospitalists used by the IPA and strengthening the relationship between the primary care physicians and the exclusively contracted hospitalists. The result was improvement in patient experience scores.

Recognizing how important access to care is for their patients, the medical groups have implemented strategies (variously called "advanced access," "open access," "same-day access," or "preferred access") to improve appointment access.^{33–35} They typically monitor "third next available" (3NA) appointments and open more appointments when access is below targets. Notably, one medical group with only fair access when measured by 3NA has high patient experience scores for access because the staff responds to every patient request for a more timely appointment.

IPAs generally address access by auditing the number of days patients have to wait for urgent and routine new appointments among the practice sites. One IPA does a formal access analysis of one specialty every month and is careful to maintain good appointment access in every specialty when adding physicians to the network.

Communication. All of the medical groups said they communicate the importance of the patient experience and how the organization is performing through all available verbal and written methods, and that leadership plays a key role in this communication. Groups report patient experience results publicly at the work unit level (department or care site) using meetings, weekly emails, and posters. Some post monthly survey results so that patients can view them or publicly post positive comments to recognize staff.

Improving the patient experience is discussed as part of regular meetings and is on the agenda at quarterly and annual all-staff meetings. As one group leader stated, "There is not a meeting the medical director attends that does not address patient satisfaction."

The medical groups hold competitions to stimulate improvement in the patient experience, and special events recognize departments and staff whose ratings improve. Group leaders share unsatisfactory individual results or negative patient comments privately, usually with coaching to support behavior change.

The IPAs interviewed also share patient experience results widely, although their structure makes communication more challenging than for medical groups. Typically, a member of the IPA staff communicates results in person during practice visits and hard copies are sent by mail. Individual results are shared only with the physician; site results with patient comments are shared with both the physician and office manager. In one IPA, Press Ganey results are reported quarterly and are available to the physician or office manager at any time via a Web portal.

Staff and Provider Engagement and Training

Medical groups reported numerous ways that they engage staff in attaining service excellence. Team and staff meetings are used to discuss patient satisfaction at the work unit level. Action is taken where needed using the "small test of change" quality improvement methodology based on ideas from front-line staff. Several groups indicated they give their managers and staff autonomy to develop solutions to improve the care experience. Two leaders expressed a deep conviction that employee engagement and satisfaction are related to a positive patient experience.

In these medical groups, staff is engaged in many ways. Some examples:

- New employee orientation includes education about the patient experience and communication techniques that are meaningful to patients, such as body language;
- Ongoing training and skill development are held onsite to help staff maintain communication and service skills;
- Staff are involved in setting performance standards and clear expectations for their roles;
- Feedback from patients is provided verbatim to staff and solutions are discussed;
- Staff who provide exemplary service serve as peer interviewers of job applicants; and
- Friendly competitions to improve scores are held among sites or departments.

Both the medical groups and the IPAs offer robust programs to improve communication between staff and patients. The medical groups train staff to introduce themselves, keep patients informed about such things as wait times, and to use scripts—suggested words or language—for common interactions with patients. This training is provided in new employee orientation, training modules, and staff meetings.

IPA leaders said they focus on engaging office managers in improving the patient experience, including devoting time to patient communication techniques and issues on the agendas for office manager meetings. One IPA involved office managers in ensuring the successful rollout of an electronic health record. Another developed a program to engage office managers in improving patient care. Through this program, office managers meet regularly and learn how to improve the patient experience, discuss their practice's results, share successful strategies with other office managers, and are recognized and rewarded for improvements. At one IPA, office staff participate in a consultant-led communication training program every two years.

Ways to engage physicians were less notable and extensive, but included participation in monthly team meetings at the site level to review scores and develop improvements, and coaching by other physicians to enhance communication techniques.

The organizations interviewed also employed strategies to improve provider communication with patients. This is in keeping with the evidence that training can be developed to focus on physician communication behaviors valued by patients and that communication training can be effective.³⁶⁻⁴⁴ Most of the medical groups and IPAs provide physician-patient communication support and training upon request and to physicians with low patient experience scores. Training is usually through individual coaching or shadowing; one organization routinely offers group training. Coaches are usually trained physicians. One medical group, for example, identified high-performing physicians, asked patients which communication practices set these physicians apart, and used the results to train other physicians.

Reward and Recognition

The high-scoring medical groups and IPAs reported using reward and recognition to motivate and involve staff. They reward work units that surpass patient experience improvement goals and recognize individuals who go above and beyond their job expectations to provide an exceptional patient experience. Creative activities include:

- Thank-you notes and emails from managers and senior leaders;
- "Above and beyond" awards, such as gift cards and movie tickets;
- Public recognition at staff meetings; and

Department and site competitions with prizes for meeting goals.

Accountability

The medical groups that were interviewed all make clear that every person in the organization is responsible for providing an excellent patient experience. Staff members and physicians are hired for patient-centeredness and are then provided with behavioral service expectations, training to fulfill job requirements, feedback about individual and team performance, and coaching when improvement is needed. Managers are expected to meet patient experience goals, to provide feedback and coaching to individuals and teams, and to support improvement efforts that engage staff and physicians. Several group leaders noted that continuous feedback, transparent reporting, and conversations about the patient experience are strong cultural factors that hold everyone in the organization accountable.

The medical groups also use routine rounding on staff to engage all individuals, recognize high performers, and identify barriers.⁴⁵ When a leader or manager rounds on direct reports, the manager inquires about what is going well, which individuals should be recognized, whether each person has the tools and equipment they need to do their job, and what the staff would like the manager to know. Problems identified by staff are followed up and individual high performers are sent thank-you notes. In these ways, problems are identified and resolved early, and staff members feel valued by their managers.

One medical group has expanded rounding into a "walkabout" in which the senior physician leaders regularly visit each care site to discuss with the staff how things are going and follow up on issues that have been raised. One leader described the walkabout as "the single most useful thing we do." In addition, many of the medical groups use "secret shopper" methods. One technique is to sit in the waiting room and observe interactions from the patient perspective. The shopper then provides feedback to staff on how well they are meeting standards.

Although accountability is less direct in IPAs than in medical groups, the IPAs that were interviewed see themselves as having an important role in quality improvement. They hold themselves accountable for helping the practices improve care. In fact, these highly rated associations view themselves as practice redesign IPAs rather than simply contracting IPAs.⁴⁶

A study looking at market and organizational influences on physician performance on patient experience measures supports the observation that physicians belonging to integrated medical groups have higher ratings of physician communication and care coordination than physicians belonging to IPAs.⁴⁷ The study suggests that "organized care processes adopted by these groups may enhance patients' experiences."

Consultants

The medical groups reported using consultant expertise to help them improve the patient experience. They used Studer Group practices learned by engaging Studer Group consultants, attending Studer Group workshops, or using internal health system consultants who apply Studer principles. All reported currently using a consistent set of practices enumerated by Quint Studer in his book *Results That Last.*⁴⁸ Several groups reported also using other consultants to improve customer service or access.

The IPAs interviewed typically do not use consultants in the same manner, although one uses a consultant to conduct physician-patient and staffpatient communication training biannually.

Leader Commitment

Leaders in the highly rated medical groups are unrelenting in their commitment to achieving patient experience excellence. They see themselves as role models who set clear expectations, actively support and recognize individuals and teams that improve the patient experience, and are vigilant in keeping their organizations patient-centered. These leaders fulfill the description offered by J.L. Reinertsen over a decade ago, "The best physician leaders always behave as if they have a patient at their elbow and bring the patient's perspective into every conversation."⁴⁹

The leaders indicated that they monitor the patient experience as closely as they monitor quality and financial performance and make course corrections or reinvigorate efforts as needed to achieve goals. In one organization, the senior management team meets every week to share success stories and spur innovation in the patient experience.

Leadership commitment is reflected in the commitment of resources. Many of the groups have leadership development programs, which further reinforce the culture of the organization, and all have internal coaches to help physicians whose patient experience ratings reflect unsatisfactory communication.

Within the IPAs, physician leaders typically work with the physicians in the practices. One IPA, in which the physicians are shareholders, functions more like a medical group in that the physicians all meet to discuss ways to improve patient care based on survey results. In the other IPAs interviewed, physician and IPA leaders communicate the importance of the patient experience while devoting significant effort to resolving physician concerns on issues such as ease of claims submission, relationships between primary care physicians and specialists, and availability of mental health consultation. The aim of these IPAs is to enhance the "practice experience" so that physicians can focus on the patient experience. For example, in one IPA, physician leaders visit primary care providers at least quarterly and visit specialists once or twice a year.

III. Safety-Net Organizations

IN IMPROVING THE PATIENT EXPERIENCE, safety-net clinics, which provide health care services to medically underserved and uninsured populations, face many challenges that do not affect organizations that serve commercially insured populations. Most of California's safety-net clinics are operated by public agencies or receive federal or state funding and/or reimbursement.⁵⁰ Measuring the patient experience is difficult because safety-net organizations typically lack adequate resources to conduct patient surveys or to analyze data. Further, their patient populations generally have lower literacy rates, lower response rates to surveys, and often outdated contact information due to the difficulty many have maintaining an address or phone number.⁵¹

As a result, safety-net providers may not use the CAHPS Clinician & Group Survey or other patient experience surveys, choosing instead to administer their own surveys to collect data about the patient experience. Ratings of the patient experience for safety-net patients, therefore, cannot be compared within California or with other states.

In the absence of comparative data, safetynet organizations that are considered innovative or "ahead of the curve" in improving the patient experience were identified through discussions with an informal network of safety-net leaders and experts. This network has developed, in part, from participation in statewide collaboratives that support quality improvement in safety-net organizations.⁵²

Structured interviews were conducted with selected leaders of the four identified safety-net organizations, including the leader of an organization in Colorado known nationally for its innovative improvement work, to obtain information about leadership practices, organizational processes, and initiatives to improve the patient experience (see Table 2).

	ТҮРЕ	LOCATION	PATIENT POPULATION	PROVIDER PROFILE
Clinica Family Health Services	Federally qualified health center	Boulder, Denver, Lafayette and Thornton, Colorado	50% Uninsured 45% Medicaid	34 physicians 34 nurse practitioners
			5% Medicare	and physician assistants
Petaluma Health Center	r Federally qualified health center	Petaluma in Sonoma County	50% Medicaid	15 primary care providers
			25% Uninsured	
			15% Private insurance	
			10% Medicare	
Innovative Care Clinic	,	San Mateo in San Mateo County	33% Medicaid/Medicare	12 primary care providers
San Mateo Medical Center	medical center		67% Uninsured	
Department of Family		Davis in Yolo County	43% Medicaid	22 faculty
and Community Medicine, University of California, Davis			26% Private insurance	42 residents
Oniversity of Camornia, Davis			26% Employees	
			5% Medicare	

Table 2. Safety-Net Organizations Interviewed

Patient-Centered Focus

Like the leaders of the highly rated medical groups and IPAs, all safety-net leaders interviewed described a strong commitment to patient-centered care. Each organization had redesigned care using a patientcentered model. The leaders typically represented their work on the patient experience as part of a larger quality improvement approach to provide patient-centered care (see "Focus on the 'Big Six' Leads to Improvement"). For example, several leaders described the importance of good appointment access to improving health outcomes. They said that patients cannot close chronic disease care gaps or obtain preventive care if they have difficulty getting appointments. Same-day appointment access is especially important in safety-net populations because transportation, often a ride or bus fare, may only be available the day the patient calls.

This quality improvement mindset can be seen in the way the organizations embrace the concept of "small tests of change" or Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles. One leader said, "Our organization structure relies on testing cycles of change—it's not person-dependent, it's part of the culture." Another reported, "We collect patient experience data on a daily basis and share this data with our team huddles. This allows us to do 'fast track' interventions, allows the entire staff to see the results, and reinforces a culture of change."

In addition, the innovative safety-net organizations redesigned their delivery systems to achieve continuity of care and good appointment access by providing patient-centered, team-based care. Although the models differ in the composition of the care team, all focus on providing patients with continuity of care and same-day or next-day appointment access, with every member of the care team working at the top of their licenses.

Focus on the "Big Six" Leads to Improvement

Clinica Family Health Services, a community health center with multiple locations in Colorado, began work on clinical system redesign more than a decade ago as an offshoot of federally funded diabetes improvement work. Carolyn Shepherd, M.D., executive vice president of clinical affairs, recalled, "We set goals and told our diabetic patients to be seen by a provider every three months. But, because of inadequate access, patients could not get an appointment in time, or if they missed the appointment, they could not reschedule for another six weeks. So we stopped and focused on clinical system redesign."

Clinica has since worked on what the organization describes as the "Big Six" strategies:

- 1. Promoting continuity of care by assigning patients to a primary care provider and a pod with consistent administrative and medical assistant staffing. The organization measures how often patients are seen by their provider and pod.
- 2. Improving timely access to care by providing same-day or next-day scheduling. No-show rates and days wait for an appointment have both decreased over time.
- Increasing office efficiency through team-based care and ensuring staff are working at the top of their licenses. For example, medical assistants give immunizations to children by standing order and front-desk staff support population management by reviewing registries and calling patients who need follow-up appointments.
- 4. Experimenting with alternative visit types. The organization offers more than 1,000 group visits for diabetes, ADHD, and prenatal care. To promote continuity, patients see the same educator or provider with the same patient cohort.
- Integrating behavioral health services with primary care by co-locating a behavioral health professional in the pod.
- Improving patient self-management through motivational interviewing and appropriate goal-setting with patients.

Transparent Information

The safety-net interviewees all collect data and use it for improvement, almost all using a home-grown survey. They collect and tabulate most data by hand although reports are automated whenever possible, and data are shared with leaders and improvement teams. Given the time and resource intensity of data collection, full-length surveys are completed only two to four times a year. The exception is the University of California, Davis Department of Family and Community Medicine, which, as part of the larger UC Davis Health System, uses an outside firm to conduct telephonic surveys in multiple languages and report results monthly at the department level.

Several of these organizations have developed creative ways to bring patients' voices to leaders and staff. One conducted a patient focus group and found the results so useful that the organization plans to conduct patient focus groups biannually. Another uses group visit evaluations to survey patients, or they conduct videotaped interviews with patients in their homes and share the videos with improvement committees.

Staff and Provider Engagement and Training

All the interviewed safety-net organizations said they actively engaged providers and staff in developing the new model of care. One leader explained, "We taught everyone quality improvement—the entire clinic was involved." As roles were redesigned, the organizations provided staff training and coaching to teams to ensure successful implementation of the new model of care. One organization created multiple workgroups with representation from all levels of staff; another asked staff what training they needed to be successful in their redesigned roles.

Two organizations credited their leadership's willingness to afford a level of autonomy to staff

as a source of success. Leadership was described as encouraging staff to innovate and take risks, take time away to attend collaboratives, and incorporate improvement activities into their daily work.

Providers are trained in patient communication techniques through a variety of methods, including refresher courses and residency curricula. The organizations also cultivate internal trainers to coach colleagues, similar to the coaching approach used by medical groups and IPAs. They also discuss communication tips and techniques at new physician orientation and meetings reviewing patient experience results.

Communication training for staff is incorporated into their overall approach to patient-centered care. One safety-net organization, for example, conducted research and visited similar organizations to develop a training curriculum when it redesigned medical assistant, nursing, and administrative staff roles. The training helped ensure staff was effective communicating with patients in their new roles.

Reward and Recognition

Formal reward and recognition was used less frequently by the safety-net organizations. Only one described a program to recognize staff members for providing an exceptional patient experience: The Helping Hands Award initiative allows staff to nominate anyone for special recognition. Anyone who gets five nominations receives a \$250 award.

Half of the safety-net leaders interviewed said their new model of care brought significant rewards in terms of improved provider and staff satisfaction. One leader noted, "All the numbers improved—patient and staff satisfaction. Our staff and provider turnover has really dropped; we're now able to retain our providers and employees."

Accountability

The safety-net innovators rely primarily on staff and provider engagement and dedication to motivate improvement efforts. To encourage accountability, they provide training to fulfill job requirements, develop clear job and role expectations, and give feedback on performance at the team or pod level.

Consultants

Instead of hiring consultants, the safety-net organizations participate in quality improvement collaboratives and workshops to access consultant expertise. All but one organization cited the Institute for Healthcare Improvement as a core source for learning improvement methods. Several organizations reported participating in collaboratives to improve access and redesign the patient visit.

Leader Commitment

The safety-net leaders believe that patientcentered care is essential and are committed to an organizational culture of quality improvement. They described sharing this commitment with a core group of leaders within their organization. "We have a shared vision," was a typical comment. In fact, the leaders of innovative organizations serving safetynet patients spontaneously described the crucial importance of such a shared commitment. Some described the importance of a significant leadership development experience (such as a conference, course, or fellowship) that gave the group a common perspective, language, and set of tools. Such experiences enabled them to work together to "spark change" and sustain it over time, they said.

IV. Conclusion

THE STEADY IMPROVEMENT IN CALIFORNIANS' ratings of the patient experience over the past several years is encouraging. Yet there is need for further improvement: Californians' ratings of the patient experience continue to be below average when compared with other states. The research and interviews on which this paper is based suggest several key components for sustaining high ratings of the patient experience over time:

- Leadership commitment. Leaders believe that the patient experience is integral to quality care and they speak, act, and make decisions based on what is best for patients.
- Patient-centered focus. The actions taken by individuals within the organization are based upon patient needs and preferences.
- Transparent information, used for improvement. The patient experience is measured regularly at the site, team, and provider levels; results are communicated widely and used to improve the patient experience.
- Engagement. Staff and providers are significantly engaged in the design and implementation of improvements in the patient experience.
- Reward and recognition. Individuals and teams who improve or excel are acknowledged and celebrated.
- Accountability. The organization identifies the roles of staff and physicians in providing an excellent patient experience and gives feedback and support to individuals and teams who need to improve.

Effective improvement strategies. Work focuses on improving the elements that are most important to patients (for example, physicianpatient communication, appointment access, and care coordination) and outside expertise is accessed as needed to guide efforts.

This list of leadership practices and organizational processes to achieve and sustain high patient experience ratings embodies the adage "simple, not easy." Unlike quality improvement initiatives, which involve discrete parts of an organization, the patient experience requires a holistic approach — all parts of the organization must deliver a good patient experience. Beginning with leadership commitment, without which improvement cannot occur, leaders can develop an organization that is highly rated by patients by instituting organizational processes that enable and motivate providers and staff to deliver patient-centered care.

Endnotes

- Solomon, L.S., R.D. Hays, A.M. Zaslavsky, L. Ding, and P.D. Cleary. 2005. "Psychometric Properties of a Group-Level Consumer Assessment of Health Plans Study (CAHPS) Instrument." *Medical Care* 43(1): 53–60.
- Personal communication with Julie France, Pacific Business Group on Health, June 11, 2010.
- 3. Ibid.
- Corrigan, J.M., M.S. Donaldson, and L.T. Kohn, editors. 2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Heath System for the 21st Century. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- DiMatteo, M.R. 1994. "Enhancing Patient Adherence to Medical Recommendations." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 271(1): 79–83.
- DiMatteo, M.R., C.D. Sherbourne, R.D. Hays, et al. 1993. "Physicians' Characteristics Influence Patients' Adherence to Medical Treatment: Results from the Medical Outcomes Study." *Health Psychology* 12(2): 93–102.
- Kaplan, S.H., S. Geenfield, and J.E. Ware Jr. 1989.
 "Assessing the Effects of Physician-Patient Interactions on the Outcomes of Chronic Disease." *Medical Care* 27(3) (supplement): S110–S127.
- Lewin, S.A., Z.C. Skea, V. Entwistle, et al. 2001.
 "Interventions for Providers to Promote a Patient-Centered Approach in Clinical Consultations." *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 4.
- Safran, D.G., D.A. Taira, W.H. Rogers, et al. 1998.
 "Linking Primary Care Performance to Outcomes of Care." *Journal of Family Practice* 47: 213–220.
- Stewart, M., J.B. Brown, A. Donner, et al. 2000. "The Impact of Patient-Centered Care on Outcomes." *Journal* of *Family Practice* 49: 796–803.
- Thom, D.H., K.M. Ribisl, A.L. Stewart, et al. 1999.
 "Further Validation and Reliability Testing of the Trust in Physician Scale." *Medical Care* 37 (5): 510–517.

- Bertakis, K., D. Roter, and S. Putnam. 1991. "The Relationship of Physician Interview Style to Patient Satisfaction." *Journal of Family Practice* 32: 175–81.
- Brody, D.S., S. Miller, C. Lerman, D. Smith, et al. 1989.
 "The Relationship Between Patients' Satisfaction with their Physicians and Perceptions About Interventions They Desired and Received." *Medical Care* 27(11): 1027–1035.
- Lied, T.R., S.H. Sheingold, B.E. Landon, et al. 2003. "Beneficiary Reported Experience and Voluntary Disenrollment in Medicare Managed Care." *Health Care Financing Review* 25(1): 55–66.
- Ong, L.M.L., J. De Haes, A.M. Hoos, and F.B. Lammes. 1995. "Doctor-Patient Communications: A Review of the Literature. *Social Science and Medicine* 40(7): 903–918.
- Robbins, J., K. Bertakis, L.J. Helms, et al. 1993. "The Influence of Physician Practice Behaviors on Patient Satisfaction." *Family Medicine* 25(1):17–20.
- Safran, D.G., J.A. Montgomery, H. Chang, et al. 2001. "Switching Doctors: Predictors of Voluntary Disenrollment from a Primary Physician's Practice." *Journal of Family Practice* 50(2): 130–136.
- Gesensway, D. March 1998. "A Look at Physician Satisfaction in a Time of Change." ACP Observer.
- Suchman, A.L., D.L. Roter, M.G. Greene, et al. 1993. "Physician Satisfaction with Primary Care Office Visits." *Medical Care* 31: 1083–1092.
- Beckman, H.B., K.M. Markakis, A.L. Suchman, and R.M. Frankel. 1994. "The Doctor-Patient Relationship and Malpractice: Lessons from Plaintiff Depositions." *Archives of Internal Medicine* 154(12): 1365–1370.
- Fullam, F., A.N. Garman, T.J. Johnson, and E.C. Hedberg. 2009. "The Use of Patient Satisfaction Surveys and Alternative Coding Procedures to Predict Malpractice Risk." *Medical Care* 47(5): 553–559.
- Hickson, G.B.C., E.W. Clayton, S.S. Entman, et al. 1994. "Obstetricians' Prior Malpractice Experience and Patients' Satisfaction with Care." *JAMA* 272: 1583–1587.

- Levinson, W., D.L. Roter, J.P. Mullooly, V.T. Dull, and R.M. Frankel. 1997. "Physician-Patient Communication: The Relationship with Malpractice Claims Among Primary Care Physicians and Surgeons." *JAMA* 277: 553–559.
- 24. The California Patient Assessment Survey (PAS) and national CAHPS Clinician & Group Survey were developed concurrently by the Pacific Business Group on Health (PBGH) and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). These two surveys were designed to respond to the need for a standardized, evidence-based instrument to assess patients' experiences with group practices and individual clinicians. There is substantial overlap. Differences between PAS and CAHPS Clinician & Group Survey reflect issues and needs that are unique to the California market, such as greater penetration of managed care and the need for pay-for-performance measures.
- 25. American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics, American College of Physicians, and American Osteopathic Association. *Joint Principles of the Patient-Centered Medical Home.* March 2007.
- National Committee for Quality Assurance. Standards and Guidelines for Physician Practice Connections[®]—Patient-Centered Medical Home (PPC-PCMH[™]). Washington, D.C.: 2008.
- 27. Comparing the ambulatory care patient experience among physician organizations using CAHPS Clinician & Group Survey is not yet possible using the National CAHPS Benchmarking Database, although development of this capability is under way (www.cahps.ahrq.gov). Likewise, comparison of the patient experience across safety-net organizations is difficult because they typically do not measure the patient experience using standardized surveys.
- Personal communication with William H. Rogers, Tufts Medical Center, Institute for Health Care Research and Policy Studies, October 1, 2010.
- 29. Data retrieved from NCQA's Quality Compass for all lines of business at the state level.

- Personal communication with William H. Rogers, Tufts Medical Center, Institute for Health Care Research and Policy Studies, October 1, 2010.
- Rodriguez, H.P., T. von Glahn, M.N. Elliott, et al. 2009. "The Effect of Performance-Based Financial Incentives on Improving Patient Care Experiences: A Statewide Evaluation." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 24(12): 1281–1288.
- 32. Interviews were not conducted with all of the organizations that met the indicated percentile threshold, but instead were selected based on the group's interest and to achieve a balanced mix of organization size, geographic location, and affiliation.
- 33. Singer, I., and M. Regenstein. Advanced Access: Ambulatory Care Redesign and the Nation's Safety Net. National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems. Washington, D.C.: December 2003.
- Witt, M., and S. Tinder. 2002. "Advanced Access: HealthCare Partners Sees Patients the Same Day." AMGA Group Practice Journal 51(2).
- Murray, M., and D.M. Berwick. 2003. "Advanced Access: Reducing Waiting and Delays in Primary Care." *JAMA* 289(8): 1035–1039.
- Beck, R.S., R. Daughtridge, and P.D. Sloane. 2002.
 "Physician-Patient Communication in the Primary Care Office: A Systematic Review." *Journal of the American Board of Family Practice* 15(1): 25–38.
- Frankel, R.M., T. Stein, and E. Krupat. 1999. "Getting the Most Out of the Clinical Encounter: The Four Habits Model." *The Permanente Journal* 3(3): 79–88.
- Kaplan, C.B., B. Siegel, J.M. Madill, and R.M. Epstein. 1997. "Communication and the Medical Interview: Strategies for Learning and Teaching." *Journal General Internal Medicine* 12(supplement 2): S49–S55.
- Suchman, A.L., K. Markakis, H.B. Beckman, and R. Frankel. 1997. "A Model of Empathic Communication in the Medical Interview." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 277(8): 678–682.

- Tallman, K., T. Janisse, R.M. Frankel, et al. 2007.
 "Communication Practices of Physicians With High Patient-Satisfaction Ratings." *The Permanente Journal* 11(1): 19–29.
- White, M.K., K.A. Bonvicini, and C. Iwema. Annotated Bibliography for Clinician-Patient Communication to Enhance Health Outcomes. Institute for Healthcare Communication. New Haven, CT: November 2005 (www.healthcarecomm.org).
- Stein, T.S., and J. Kwan. 1999. "Thriving in a Busy Practice: Physician-Patient Communication Training." *Effective Clinical Practice* 2(2): 63–70.
- Stein, T., R.M. Frankel, and E. Krupat. 2005.
 "Enhancing Clinician Communication Skills in a Large Healthcare Organization: A Longitudinal Case Study." *Patient Education and Counseling* 58(1): 4–12.
- Rodriguez, H.P., M.P. Anastario, R.M. Frankel, et al. 2008. "Can Teaching Agenda-Setting Skills to Physicians Improve Clinical Interaction Quality? A Controlled Intervention." *BMC Medical Education* 8: 3.
- Studer, Q. Results That Last: Hardwiring Behaviors That Will Take Your Company to the Top. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2008.
- 46. Shortell, S.M., L.P. Casalino, and E.S. Fisher. "Achieving the Vision: Structural Change," in F.J. Crosson and L.A. Tollen (eds.), *Partners in Health: How Physicians and Hospitals Can Be Accountable Together*. Jossey-Bass, 2010.
- Rodriguez, H.P., T. von Glahn, W.H. Rogers, and D.G. Safran. 2009. "Organizational and Market Influences on Physician Performance on Patient Experience Measures." *Health Services Research* 44(3): 880–901.
- Studer, Results That Last: Hardwiring Behaviors That Will Take Your Company to the Top. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2008.
- Reinertsen, J.L. 1998. "Physicians as Leaders in the Improvement of Health Care Systems." *Annals of Internal Medicine* 128(10): 833–838.

- Saviano, E.C. *California's Safety-Net Clinics: A Primer*. California HealthCare Foundation. Oakland, CA: March 2009 (www.chcf.org).
- Weidmer, B. Safety Net Provider Focus Groups: Summary Report. California HealthCare Foundation. Oakland, CA: July 2009.
- 52. These collaboratives focus on specific improvement, such as improving appointment access or patient visit redesign, and are offered by organizations that support safety-net organizations, such as the Safety-net Institute and the California Primary Care Association.
- 53. The CQC *Guide to Improving the Patient Experience*, a summary of promising approaches and change concepts from the three collaboratives, can be found on their Web site (www.calquality.org).



1438 Webster Street, Suite 400 Oakland, CA 94612 tel: 510.238.1040 fax: 510.238.1388 www.chcf.org